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ASHMOLEAN NATURAL HISTORY SOCIETY OF OXFORDSHIRE
GENERAL MEETINGS AND LECTURES

HILARY TERM 1901

Jan. 23 Annual General Meeting

Feb. 6 Peking and its EnvironBy Prof. T.L. Bullock

Feb. 18 Snakes and their Structuby Mrs. Victor H. Veley

Mar. 6 A Journey to North Africdy the Mayor of Oxford

Mar. 14 Exhibit Evening; short notes and discussexhibition of live animals and plants.

TRINITY TERM 1901

Apr. 30 Precious Stones, and how they are distinguisheBrof. H.A. Miers, F.R.S.

May 8 The Orientation of Egyptian Templieg Mr. H.L. Tidy (New College)

May 22 Special General Meeting (Amalagamation efAshmolean Society with the
Oxfordshire Natural History Society).

June 5 Ancient Egyptian Funeral Beliefs and Customs fr@®06B.C. — 100 A.D. as
illustrated by objects in the Ashmolean MusdynMiss A.G. Weld.

June 6 Miss Weld met Members at the Ashmolean Musand explained objects referred to
in her Lecture.

June 13 Exhibit Evening.

June 20 General Annual Excursion.*

July 8 The Mayor’s Conversazione at the Town Hall.

* The General Annual excursion took place at BamiBeeches.

MICHAELMAS TERM 1901

Oct. 16 New lllustrations of Mimicnpy Prof. E.B. Poulton F.R.S., with Sanger-Shepherd
colour photos.

Oct. 30 The Geology of the Australian Alpg Mr. James Stirling, F.G.S.

Nov. 13 The Distribution of Starby Mr. F.A. Bellamy, F.R.A.S.

Nov. 27 Solar Radiation and Temperatubg the Radcliffe Observer.

Dec. 5 Exhibit Evening

CHRISTMAS LECTURES FOR CHILDREN

Monday, Dec. 30, 1901 Hide and Seek Amongst AnimbisProf. E.B. Poulton, F.R.S.
Wednesday, Jan. 1, 1902 Mimicry Amongst Animalby Prof. E.B. Poulton, F.R.S.
Friday, Jan. 2, 1902 Oxfordshire Old and Nebwy Mr. A.M. Bell, F.G.S.

Monday, Jan. 6, 1902 A Box of Paintdy Dr. V.H. Veley, F.R.S.

Wednesday, Jan. 8, 1902 A Visit to Algeriaby Mr. G.C. Druce, F.L.S.

Friday, Jan. 10, 1902 A Little Bit of Sugar for the Birthy Mrs. V.H. Veley

HILARY TERM 1902

Jan. 22 Annual General Meeting and Conversaziotgbis.

Feb. 5 Human Life in early Oxfordshirey Mr. A.M. Bell, M.A.

Feb. 19 Gold-Mining in Klondikeby Prof. H.A. Miers, F.R.S.

Mar. 5 The Human Ear as a Means of IdentificattmnMiss Miriam A. Ellis.
Mar. 12 Bacterial Toxindy James Ritchie, M.D.



THE ORIGIN OF THE SOCIETY

Try to imagine it is 1901 and that you are kgeémterested in natural history! One hundred gear
ago the people of Oxfordshire were given the opputy to join the newly formed Ashmolean
Natural History Society of Oxfordshire to furthéetr interests in the subject. On May'22901 a
special general meeting was held when the Ashmdbeaiety, an academic society founded in 1828,
formally amalgamated with the Oxfordshire Natur#@tbry Society and Field Club.

Unfortunately the once well-attended Ashmolédociety had been in a state of ‘suspended
animation’ for the previous few years but foundifficult to disband as it was the proud possesdor
a substantial and valuable library and some fineachlt was agreed for the Society to merge whth t
much more active Oxfordshire Natural History Sociehd Field Club, founded in 1880 by George
Claridge Druce and Professor Marmaduke Alexandersba, the Sherardian Professor of Botany at
the University. To celebrate the union, Georgei@fge Druce, the Mayor of Oxford, gave a reception
on July 8 1901 for all the members in the Town Hall in OxfoiThe event took the form of a
conversazione. Delegates from the Annual Photodgra@bnvention of Great Britain, which was
taking place in Oxford at the same time, were afsgted. It is because of the interests and
enthusiasm of a number of individuals, most esflgdizeorge Claridge Druce, that we are now able
to celebrate the centenary of our local NaturatdfisSociety. Today the Society is still very aeti
maintaining a varied programme of lectures, fieldetings, Christmas lectures for children, plant
survey sessions and in the last few years hasageetla successful ‘Rare Plants Group’ of which the
founders of the Society would have been proud.

Without the inspiration and motivating
force of George Claridge Druce the Soci
may not exist today. He was an extreme
busy man taking a keen interest not only
matters of natural history, specializing in t
study of plant species, but also in the welfa
of people of the City of Oxford (see belo
for more information about G.C. Druce
During 1901, our ‘would-be host’ at the
Town Hall was also President of the Briti
Pharmaceutical Conference. Although
Druce had many official duties to perforrg
during the year 1901, he did not neglect t
Ashmolean Natural History Society o
Oxfordshire in any way at all. Beside
giving a lecture on A journey to North
Africa’ on March &' 1901 (likely to be the
only lecture given to the Society by
serving Mayor), he announced at a meeti®
on October 18 that negotiations for the
purchase of a piece of marsh land for ti
Society, as the area’s first nature resents
were nearly completed. Druce had quite
chance mentioned to his friend Hen
Willett that a portion of Wicken Fen had . o
been bought as a ‘gift’ in Cambridgeshire.George Claridge Druce in his robes as Mayor of @afo
According to Druce, Mr Willett said at once
with “characteristic kindly generosity” “he wouléké to do something of the kind for Oxford” and
asked Druce to suggest a suitable piece of landiceDimmediately suggested a piece of marshland at
Cothill, although this is strictly speaking in Behire, it is only about 6 miles from Oxford in a
SW/Westerly direction. Mr Willetts’ wishes wereattihe plot of land should be acquired during this



year when Druce was Mayor and that it might sigreathe union of the Ashmolean and Oxfordshire
Natural History Societies. He had one other reineg the plot of land be named after his friethe,
writer and art critic and former Oxford Professtmhn Ruskin, and therefore it was named the Ruskin
Reserve.

Henry Willett himself came from Brighton and svane of the founders of the Brighton Museum to
which he presented a large collection of chalkifeskle was a very generous man and gave items to
many museums. His house itself was almost likeugsemm of pictures, china, plate and furniture.
Although he didn't collect books specifically, hachone that would have been the envy of any
collector — a book that once belonged to Marie Amgtie and was carried by Loius XV1o the
scaffold where he presented it to her. Mr Willatty became interested in Botany when he reached
his seventies and when he visited Oxford, Druc& tum out to see various wild plants, including a
trip to see the birthwortAfistolochiaclematiti§ at Godstow Nunnery. Druce took him on a glorious
autumn day to see Cothill. A lovely descriptiontloé Ruskin Reserve in all its glory was written up
by Druce in the Report of the Society for 1902. gAotation from this: “There is a pleasing
combination of woodland, water and marsh, not sepdrby any abrupt line of demarcation or fenced
by hideous barriers, but melting insensibly intcheather. In spring one sees bright green spdars o
the young grasses and sedges piercing through ubsetr browns of the dead rush and sedge
vegetation, which persists till late in the seas@inen almost the only touch of colour given is eals
by the golden palms on the sallows or the bluishehahere the
bluebells are beginning to expand in the woodlaimdsummer the
spikes of the marsh orchids make a brave shown,Tthe, may be
seen the large white cymes of the water-eld@&(rnum opululs
the amethystine heads of the meadow thistle, aadrdly-pink
spikes of the orchitHabenaria conopseawhile the milkwort and
butterwort show their blues, the bog-pimpernelpitk, the small
valerian its palest rosy tints, and the glistersiigy plumes of the
cotton-grass wave in the wind; while in autumn thagnificent
reed-grass displays its blackish-purple panicles gtaucous
bluish-green foliage, the cornel with its dull csom leaves
darkening to purple supports the significance efgpecific name,
while the flaming yellow of the maple and the rudsege of the
oaks form a pleasing relief from the sombre tirite pines in the
western horizon.”. References were made to thectnffe being
rich and varied there too and it was said thatghipe and the
nightingale visited.

George Claridge Druce became a trustee of tlskiR Reserve
with Professor Poulton, Professor of Zoology at thméversity. In
1904 a piece of land, known as Hurst Copse, adjgitiie reserve
at Cothill came up for auction and Druce boughtrsiCopse’ for

the Society at a cost of £90. This additional piete

; land consisted mainly of woodland, which therefore
! --{fcm i Ereo e ,»;: added another habitat to the reserve. However in

o 1% 1916 the Ruskin Reserve was transferred to the
B, e ownership of the National Trust and today it is
N L T eyt managed by English Nature. Many field excursions
& CLARIDOE DRUGE by members of the Society were held there in Dsice’
' time. Seeing as Druce himself was an avid coltecto

-

Part of a specimen of a fragraorchid of plants for his herbarium, eventually containing
(Habenaria conopseanow known as over 200,000 specimens, it was somewhat surprising
Gymnadenia conopsgaollected by George to read in Druce's account of the reserve that he
Claridge Druce from Cothill in 1889. The states “specimens should not be ruthlessly gathered
specimen plus the label in Druce’s handwriting is or collected just to satisfy a momentary curiosity;
kept in the Oxford University Herbaria in the is much better to observe than to destroy.” Being

Department of Plant Sciences.



trustee of the Ruskin Reserve and realizing theomapce of preserving disappearing habitats for
future generations must have made a deep impressioBeorge Claridge Druce. He was on the
council for the Society for the Promotion of NatlReservest its inauguration in 1912 andas a
member of its Executive Committee.

During 1901 Mr. H. Balfour was President oé thociety, Mrs. Lilian J. Veley was the Secretary
while Mr. Druce remained as Treasurer. The Soacigty divided up into ten sections, some with sub-
sections, each having its own president. Almogrgne’s interests were catered for in different
sections comprising Zoology, Botany, Photographgol@gy, Anthropology, Physiology, Meterology,
Astronomy, Chemistry and Mineralogy! However in029a Physics and Mathematics section was
also added. It was reported that attendanceganéetings for the year 1901 were very large aed th
membership just after the amalgamation of the teronér Societies stood at 315. The Ashmolean
Society brought in 14 new members to the Ashmolatural History Society of Oxfordshire. The
annual subscription was five shillings and memiserdd enrol in up to three sections for this, pgyin
an extra shilling for enrolment in any additionattons.

Perhaps it must be said that there was a ‘fment’ of the present day Society and this was the
Oxford Botanical and Natural History Society. TI8sciety was founded by Professor Charles
Daubeny and Mr William Baxter, Curator of the OxfoBotanic Garden (1813-1851) in 1831.
Professor Daubeny became the President and Mr BthéeSecretary. No reports of this Society
appear to exist. The Society seems to have fadeg after the retirement and death of the two men
in the late 1860’s. George Claridge Druce and é&sir Lawson were therefore filling a gap with
their Oxfordshire Natural History Society and Fi€llib from 1880 onwards.

A set of rules for the newly amalgamated Societg @&t out in 1901 and these were published in the
Society Report for 1902. They were as follows:hé&Tobjects of the Society shall be to encourage a
taste for Natural Science and to facilitate itsdgt(l) by the reading of papers and lectures; {2) b
general field work and excursions to places ofreggt (3) by the exhibition of specimens; (4) bg th
record of the natural history facts of the distrantd (5) by the maintenance of a library.” Thedes

are just as relevant today as they were in 1901.
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A specimen of the round-leaved sundew,
Droserarotundifolia, collected by G.C. Druce i\\
in 1891 from Cothill and preserved in the
Druce Herbarium at the University of Oxford.
The plant has been extinct in the county of
Oxfordshire since 1830 where there are
virtually no suitable habitats for it to grow. It
is stil to be found however at Cothill,
Berkshire just a few miles from Oxford.
According to Druce in the Flora of Berkshire
(1897) the round-leaved sundew was first
recorded in the area in 1657 growing in a boc
in Bagley Wood between Oxford and
Abingdon.




GEORGE CLARIDGE DRUCE (1850 — 1932)

George Claridge Druce was born in Potterspugytihmptonshire on 23 May 1850 and was
brought up in Yardley Gobion. He started out fioumble beginnings; he was an illegitimate child of
a housekeeper called Jane Druce. However, whemg&deft school he managed to secure an
apprenticeship at a firm of retail and manufactyr@emists in Northampton, Philadelphus Jeyes &
Company, famous for Jeyes Fluid. While studying lits pharmaceutical examinations he started
collecting and pressing plant specimens for his tsrbarium and was encouraged in his botanical
interests by Mr. Jeyes. Druce acquired so muchvladge about local plants in this way that he later
wrote a number of county floras. Meanwhile he sgstully completed his pharmaceutical exams and
apprenticeship and decided to start his own chebuisiness in Oxford. He bought a shop in ‘The
High’ with his savings of about £400 in June 18T@l aesided in the City for the rest of his life,
becoming one of the best-known figures in Oxforthatturn of the twentieth century.

—

Druce’s first major publication
was the Flora of Oxfordshire
published in 1886. This estab-
lished him firmly in the botanical
community. He became a Fellow
of the Linnean Society of London,
was appointed Special Curator of
the Fielding Herbarium at the
University of Oxford in 1895 and
became secretary of the ‘Botanical
Society and Exchange Club of the
British Isles’ from 1903 until his
death. The society was involved in
the exchange of herbarium
material collected from within the
British Isles and was the
forerunner of the present day
Botanical Society of the British
Isles (BSBI). The large collection
of herbarium specimens Druce
built up himself was bequeathed to
' the University of Oxford on his
death.

George Claridge Druce had
boundless energy it seems
enabling him to do for the
community at large more than
several other people put together!
However he never married.
Besides running a successful
- . chemist business, writing local

Druce’s Chemist shop at 118 High Street Oxford C‘?“”ty floras an_d being invol_ved
Photograph courtesy of Oxfordshire Photographichive, with  the national  botanical
Centre for Oxfordshire Studies. community, he was an Oxford City

Councillor and Magistrate. He
began public life in Oxford by joining the Scieremed Art Committee in 1880 and later served on the
Technical Education Committee. He became a cdondil 1892 and was elected Vice Chairman of
the Sanitary Committee two years later followedQheairmanship of the Playgrounds Committee in
1895. He also served as Sheriff and Conservatdtoof Meadow in 1896. This of course was



followed by being elected Mayor in 1900, followeg the election to Chairman of the Special
Committee on Technical Education in 1902, Vice-@iahn of the Public Library Committee in 1904
and to the Special Drainage Committee in 1907. hd&er surprisingly for a bachelor, he acted as
Chairman of the Hospital Midwives! He also reprasdrOxford at various Congresses on Health and
by nature of his business was on the Council oPh@maceutical Society. The list of committees he
served on seems endless, including at various ttheese for Finance, Waterworks, Parliamentary,
Cemeteries, Town Planning, Special Markets, Carismprovements, Insurance, the Japanese
Exhibition and the National Trust. He served asétary Secretary of the Oxford Historical Pageant
and was a Trustee of the St. Lawrence Lodge asasealhe Ruskin Reserve mentioned earlier. The
people of Oxford had Druce to thank for many imgments in the lighting, paving and more
sanitary dwellings in the City. Druce himself livén Crick Road at No. 9. In 1914 he accompanied
the expedition of the British Association for thdvancement of Science to Australia and in 1926 was
one of the Vice-Presidents of the Association wtieir Meeting was held in Oxford. In the latter
part of his life he travelled abroad quite exteabiv

Druce was elected President of the NaturalddysBociety, in its two different forms, a totalfolir
times 1895-1897, 1905-1906, 1915-1916 and 1928-1%®9 was Treasurer from 1880 until he died
in 1932, with the exception of two years. He welgeved of his secretarial duties from 1887, but he
wrote all the annual sectional reports of Fieldagtin the Proceedings of the Society; also a numbe
of botanical papers in the same journal. He gaveta of 73 lectures to the Society on a whole
variety of different topics, but mostly botanicallmtanical travels, and the last one he gaveeaagfe
of 81, just a few months before he died. Duringide’'s year as Mayor of Oxford (1900 —1901),
Queen Victoria died and he had to travel to St.e¥rRalace with eight members of the Corporation
to convey the congratulations of the City of Oxftodhe new King. There were rumours that he was
hoping that the Coronation of Edward ¥Wwould take place during his term as Mayor as he wa
hankering after a Knighthood, which would have adtically been conferred on the residing Mayor
of Oxford, but the King was ill and the Coronatibad to be postponed! Druce liked to move in
aristocratic circles as borne out by the huge armofioorrespondence etc. surviving in the Librafy o
the Department of Plant Sciences in the Univedit@xford.

Druce used his herbarium material and knowleafgglants in the field to produce a further three
major county floras +lora of Berkshire(publ. 1897)Flora of Buckinghamshir€ubl. 1926) and the
Flora of Northamptonshir¢publ. 1930). His revised edition of tRéora of Oxfordshirg(publ. 1927)
remained the standard botanical work for the couwnmtyil as recently as 1998 when thtora of
Oxfordshire by John Killick, Roy Perry and Stan Woodell waslghed. For someone with no
formal training or qualifications in Botany, Druaehieved a great deal. He was awarded an honorary
degree from St. Andrew’s University (1919), wasctdd to the Fellowship of the Royal Society
(1927) and, perhaps most significantly, gained &cDfrom the University of Oxford in 1924 thereby
becoming Dr. Druce. He had studied two of the @rsity’s historic herbaria in detail and published
books on them with Professor Vines, the Sherardiasfessor of Botany. His botanical work
however attracted much criticism as he did noobfelthe rules on the proper procedures for naming
new species and was frequently describing new tiesief plants on the most minor of differences in
characters. On his death in 1932 Druce not onlyubathed his herbarium and library to the
University of Oxford, but also his house and £12,0He may have started from humble beginnings
but died a rich and well respected man. He isdolin Holywell Cemetery with several other Oxford
‘notables’. A new headstone for his grave was Ipased by the Botanical Society of the British Isles
(BSBI) plus various members of the Ashmolean Naidistory Society of Oxfordshire in 1996, and
unveiled at a special ceremony od"May 1996. Joining members of the Society on duisasion
were Mrs Sylvia Chandler, the granddaughter of asito of ‘our’ Druce and Mr Anthony Jeyes,
Druce’s Godson.

George Claridge Druce was regarded with so nastbem amongst his friends, especially at the
Botanical Exchange Club of the British Isles, ttisir members teamed up and presented him with a
very special bookplate. They commissioned thestaBmery Walker to design the bookplate. Mr
Walker cleverly managed to incorporate the armghef various societies and places Druce was



involved with in his design and thereby incorpodateany of the different facets of his life. Sir

George and Lady Holford gave a reception at theinér at Dorchester House, Park Lane, for Druce
and his friends and colleagues from the Societytlier presentation of the bookplate. Druce must
have been in his element as the guest list wasepaskh Lords and Ladies!! But surely he deserved
some indulgence as from reading various obitudtiés clear that he showed great kindness and

encouragement to all, but most particularly to ypyeople and those interested in the flora of the
British Isles.

EXPLANATION OF DRUCE’S BOOKPLATE

The upper portion of the background of the bookplag is illustrated with two plants, one being
Potamogetordrucei, the Loddon pondweed. This plant was discoveredytDruce in 1893. It is now known
by the name ofPotamogetomodususand is a Red Data Book species The second illustrated
‘background’ plant is Orchis praetermissathe southern marsh-orchid, now namedactylorhiza
praetermissaa plant originally described by Druce in 1913. Blow the inscription in the centre, the giant
waterlily is depicted, at the time calledVictoria regia after Queen Victoria, but the species is in fact
Victoria amazonica

Photographs on the front cover, pages 4 & 5, ceydé the Department of Plant Sciences, Universit@xford.
Edited by Camilla Lambrick and Alison McDonald
For the Ashmolean Natural History Society of Oxf&rute, March 2002



